FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/1/2023 1:01 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

101763-4

No. 83736-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION I

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LENA LYONS, an individual

Appellant,

IRINE VAIMAN, M.D.

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW IN SUPREME COURT

David A. Williams, WSBA # 12010

Law Office of David A. Williams 9 Lake Bellevue Dr. Ste. 104

Bellevue, WA 98005

Email: daw@bellevue-law.com

Phone: 425-646-7767

Facsimile: 425-646-1011

Attorney for Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue is whether, in a medical malpractice lawsuit, a letter from Plaintiff's counsel that Defendant's insurance adjuster acknowledges and treats as a "good faith request for mediation" under RCW 7.70.110 is nonetheless defective as a matter of law, for failure to contain specific "magic words"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff's counsel executed a lengthy Declaration in Opposition to Summary Judgment, CP 468-493. Unless otherwise indicated, all factual citations are from that document. It is attached as Appendix 1 and citation will be by page number. Thus:

1. The theory this Respondent of case is that ("Vaiman") failed to refer Appellate ("Lyons") for appropriate work up of a constellation of signs and symptoms with "abdominal consistent aortic claudication", leading to a significant delay in diagnosis and treatment, during which time Lyons suffered needlessly. Williams Declaration, page 2.

- 2. The case alleged "continuing negligence". Plaintiff's last visit to Defendant was May 30, 2018. Thus, unless extended under RCW 7.70.110, the statute of limitations expired May 30, 2018.
- 3. Williams originally approached Vaiman informally, by letter dated July 27th, 2020. Id.
- 4. Williams' July 27th, 2020 letter to Vaiman placed her on notice of the claim in a very general way, and concluded saying "Please place me in touch with your professional liability carrier". Id.
- 5. The letter was "obviously" intended to "communicate my desire to resolve the case 'pre-suit', which in the medical malpractice 'world' has meant mediation for at least twenty years". (Emphasis in original.)

- 6. Respondent's professional liability insurer wasPhysicians. CP 20-21 Beth Cooper, Senior ClaimsAdjustor, was assigned to the file Id.
- 7. Ms. Cooper responded to Williams' July 27th letter with the "form" letter Physicians always uses when approached pre-suit. Williams Declaration, p. 3.
- 8. The letter acknowledged Williams' "recent correspondence", and went on to say "We are willing to cooperate with you in conducting an investigation of your client's claim". Id. The letter goes on to discuss certain "terms and conditions" that Physicians will "assume' to be part of any agreement "whether or not they are specifically negotiated at the time settlement negotiations are undertaken". Id. The letter included a copy of the standard Release that Physicians would expect to be signed, "should any settlement be reached". Id.

- 9. Williams has been dealing with Physicians since "at least 1992" and with Ms. Cooper since "at least 2014". Williams Declaration, p. 4. Williams is "not at all certain that there has been a single day in my practice the past 10 years, at least, when I didn't have at least one current case proceeding against a Physicians insured". Id.
- 10. Williams has "advanced, settled and/or tried to verdict dozens of cases involving Physicians' insureds". Id. Thus, Williams is "quite familiar with Physicians Insurance claims practices. Id.
- 11. In Williams' experience, "typically, if Physicians' presuit investigation suggests settlement should be pursued, the **Physicians** claims rep will contact [Williams] and suggest mediation". Williams Declaration, p.
 5. (Emphasis in original). Respondent never denied this.
- 12.It's "certainly well known to insurers that Plaintiffs' counsel universally seek to settle their medical cases through mediation. To feign ignorance of that is to deny

- reality". Williams Declaration, p. 6. Respondent never denied this.
- 13. The "bottom line" to Williams' Declaration was: "The critical and undisputed point is: Whether a case is resolved pre-suit or in litigation, absent a "limits issue", mediation is the virtually in not literally *universal* process by which substantial medical malpractice cases are settled. Williams Declaration, p. 8. Respondent never denied this.
- 14.Ms. Cooper and Williams spoke shortly after Williams received her letter. By then Williams had noticed that his original letter didn't contain the words "we request mediation". Id. Their discussion was primarily about the substance and work-up of the case. However, "at or near" the end of the conversation, Williams "half-jokingly asked 'Do I need to send you another letter with three more words ('We request mediation')'?. Williams Declaration pp. 8-9. Cooper "literally laughed out loud and indicated that [Williams] would not." Id.

15. Time passed. At some point Williams called Cooper to discuss the case. Williams Declaration, pp. 8-9.

16.On May 5th, 2021, Cooper emailed Williams, to wit:

Hi Dave

I know I owe you a phone call. I have a case in trial and we are doing zoom jury selection so I'm a little tied up. Do you have time tomorrow?

When last we spoke about the Lyons matter, I think I explained that I do not have enough information about the care and ultimate diagnosis to understand the medical issues here and have it reviewed. This person is a very medically complex patient who receives care from what appears to be a large number of providers, including during the time she was seeing Dr. Vaiman.

In any event I can call you tomorrow afternoon. Let me know if there's a time that works for you.

Williams Declaration, exhibit 3.

17. Williams responded to Cooper's email nine minutes after having received it, indicating that he would be available

- the next morning to discuss the case. Williams Declaration, Exhibit 4.
- 18. Cooper never reached back out to Williams and instead, apparently, closed her file. Williams Declaration, Exhibit 10.
- 19. Williams thereafter filed suit, on June 8, 2021. CP 1-
 - 3. The suit was filed more than three, but less than four years after Lyons' last visit to Vaiman.
- 20. Williams contacted Cooper to tell her that he'd filed and make arrangements to have appointed counsel accept service. Cooper indicated that she'd closed her file, NOT because of the passing of the Statute of Limitations, but because she "hadn't gotten records" from Williams. Williams Declaration, pp 10-11. Cooper didn't assert that the Statute of Limitations had expired.
- 21. Arrangements were made to have appointed counsel accept service, which was done.

- 22. Vaiman's retained counsel, who had not been privy to any conversations between Williams and Cooper, thereafter asserted that his July 27th, 2020 hadn't satisfied RCW 7.70.110 because it didn't contain the words "we request mediation".
- 23. Vaiman's counsel thereafter brought a motion for Summary Judgment based on the supposed passing of the Statute of Limitations. CP 4-19.
- 24. The trial court granted the motion and denied reconsideration. CP 502-505, 511-512. This appeal timely followed. CP 513.
- 25. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion filed January 30, 2023.

ARGUMENT

The question of whether a "good faith demand for mediation" can be defective as a matter of law, for lack of specific "magic words", presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, i.e., the Right to One's Day in Court.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner seeks review and reversal of the Court of Appeals decision, and remand to the Superior Court for trial.

Date this 1st day of March, 2023

LAW OFFICE OF DAVID WILLIAMS

March 01, 2023 - 1:01 PM

Filing Petition for Review

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court **Appellate Court Case Number:** Case Initiation

Appellate Court Case Title: Leena Lyons, Appellant v. Irine Vaiman, M.D., Respondent (837362)

The following documents have been uploaded:

PRV_Petition_for_Review_20230301125416SC393009_7581.pdf

This File Contains: Petition for Review

The Original File Name was l. lYONS Supreme Ct review FINAL.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- amanda@favros.com
- caitlyn@favros.com
- carrie@favros.com
- lora@bellevue-law.com

Comments:

Sender Name: David Williams - Email: daw@bellevue-law.com

Filing on Behalf of: David Andrews Williams - Email: daw@bellevue-law.com (Alternate Email:)

Address:

9 Lake Bellevue Drive Suite 104

Bellevue, WA, 98005 Phone: (425) 646-7767

Note: The Filing Id is 20230301125416SC393009

FILED 1/30/2023 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEENA LYONS,

Appellant,

٧.

IRINE VAIMAN,

Respondent.

No. 83736-2-I

DIVISION ONE

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

DíAZ, J. — Following the dismissal of her medical malpractice claim for failure to meet the statute of limitations, Leena Lyons (Lyons) argues that, pursuant to RCW 7.70.110, the deadline for filing her complaint was extended by one year because her counsel wrote her doctor's office asking to be put in touch with their professional liability carrier. Her doctor disagrees because Lyons did not specifically request mediation, which she asserts is required by the statute. We affirm the dismissal.

I. FACTS

Dr. Irine Vaiman (Vaiman) provided Lyons with primary care beginning in May, 2017. Their last visit was on May 18, 2018, and the last prescription refill was on May 30, 2018.

Citations and pin cites are based on the Westlaw online version of the cited material.

Lyons retained counsel, David Williams (Williams). Williams subsequently wrote Vaiman a letter on July 27, 2020, stating: