FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/28/2023 12:41 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101763-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LENA LYONS, individual,

Petitioner,

v.

IRINE VAIMAN, M.D.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amanda K. Thorsvig, WSBA #45354 Attorney for Respondent FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 1301 A Street, Suite 900 Tacoma, WA 98402

Ph: 253.328.7800

Email: amanda@favros.com

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY

Respondent Irine Vaiman, M.D., submits this Answer to Leena Lyons's Petition for Review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In an unpublished January 30, 2023 opinion, Court of Appeals Division I affirmed the trial court's order dismissing Lyons's untimely medical malpractice lawsuit because she failed to toll the statute of limitations under RCW 7.70.110. *Slip Op.* at 1, 4.1

To toll the three-year statute of limitations in a medical malpractice action for one year, RCW 7.70.110 requires "[t]he making of a written, good faith request for mediation." *Slip Op.* at 3 (quoting RCW 7.70.110). Here, Lyons's attorney wrote a letter to Dr. Vaiman asking Dr. Vaiman to "[p]lease place me in touch with your professional liability carrier." *Slip Op. at 2*

¹ Because Lyons did not do so, Dr. Vaiman attaches the slip opinion as an appendix to her answer.

(quoting language from CP 443). Division I correctly concluded this was not a "request for mediation."

Appreciating that the legislature means what it says and that Washington courts strictly construe tolling provisions, Division I—consistent with all Washington appellate decisions interpreting RCW 7.70.110—found that statements such as Lyons's do not constitute a written "request for mediation" to toll the statute of limitations. *Slip Op. at 4-7.* It reasoned:

Here, not only does the word 'mediation' not appear in the letter, but there is not even a generalized desire to discuss any sort of third-party settlement discussions. The expressed desire to become connected with an insurance agent is not the same as the specific expressed desire to settle the matter, let alone through a specific form of alternative dispute resolution.

Slip Op. at 6.

Division I thus properly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Lyons's medical malpractice lawsuit as time-barred because she failed to trigger RCW 7.70.110's tolling provision. No RAP 13.4(b) consideration applies under which this Court should accept review.

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE

Did the trial court properly grant Dr. Vaiman summary judgment, dismissing Lyons's medical malpractice lawsuit because she did not bring it within three years from the date of the act or omission alleged to have caused her injury or assert the one-year discovery rule, RCW 4.16.350, and did not make "a written, good faith request for mediation" so as to toll the statute of limitations for one year, RCW 7.70.110?

IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Lyons Sees Dr. Vaiman between May 23, 2017, and May 30, 2018.

Dr. Vaiman, a primary care physician, treated Lyons for approximately one year, from May 23, 2017, until May 30, 2018. CP 261-303. Lyons also saw numerous specialists, including neurology, rheumatology, orthopedics, neurosurgery, podiatry, psychology, psychiatry, and neuropsychology, *see* CP 47-252, for her many general health complaints, CP 302-03. Lyons's last encounter with Dr. Vaiman occurred on May 30, 2018. CP 261-303.

B. July and August 2020 Pre-Suit Communications.

Lyons subsequently retained counsel, David Williams, who wrote Dr. Vaiman a letter on July 27, 2020, stating:

I represent Lena Lyons relative to her claim for damages stemming from the continuous negligent failure to appreciate and refer her for work-up of her aortic claudication, beginning in July of 2017, and continuing through at least May of 2018. Please place me in touch with your professional liability carrier.

CP 482.

Dr. Vaiman provided this letter to her professional liability insurance carrier, Physicians Insurance. CP 21. Physicians Insurance assigned Beth Cooper, a Senior Claims Representative, to manage the claim. CP 20-21.

On August 12, 2020, Cooper responded to Williams's July 27, 2020 letter with a template letter that Physicians Insurance sends to patients or their counsel after receiving notification of a malpractice claim against an insured. CP 21, 24-26. It requested information from Williams to allow Physicians Insurance to investigate the claim, including Lyons's liability theory, asserted

damages, medical records, and any expert reports. CP 21, 24-26. The letter also stated that "[s]hould settlement negotiations take place ... there are certain terms and conditions" Physicians Insurance requires in any potential settlement agreement, and it addressed the claimant's obligation to repay any Medicare lien in the event of settlement. CP 25-26. The letter did not mention mediation. *See id.* Contrary to Lyons's assertion, *Pet. at 6*, the letter did not state that Cooper somehow acknowledged Williams's July 27, 2020 letter as a written request for mediation or in any way treated it as such. CP 25-26.

Williams did not provide Cooper with the requested information or otherwise respond in writing. CP 21.

Williams and Cooper spoke by phone shortly after he received her August 12, 2020 letter. CP 475. They primarily discussed Lyons's liability theory and damages, and Cooper indicated that she would need more medical information to evaluate the claim. CP 475-76. Williams contends that near the conversation's end, the following exchange occurred:

I raised the issue of the mediation letter and half-jokingly asked "Do I need to send you another letter with three more words" ["We request mediation"]? Ms. Cooper literally laughed out loud and indicated that I would not. I won't claim to remember her exact words, but I do remember her laughing.

CP 476. Cooper denies that she told Williams she would accept his July 27, 2020 letter to Dr. Vaiman as a request for mediation:

That is not something that I would have done or would ever do. I also unequivocally deny that I would have ever accepted a verbal request for mediation, that I told Mr. Williams that a written request for mediation was not required, and that I would have ever given any kind of verbal authority to extend the statute of limitations for this or any other case. I am fully aware that RCW 7.70.110 requires the "making of a written, good faith request for mediation ..." and that is what I need for my file. Plaintiff did not make any such written request.

CP 21-22; see also CP 33-34.

Despite Cooper's request for more information to evaluate the claim, Williams did not communicate with Cooper for the next nine months. *See* CP 21, 476-77.

C. May 2021 Pre-Suit Communications.

In May 2021, Williams contacted Cooper by phone. CP 476-77. Cooper responded by email to offer her availability for a phone call. CP 488. She further stated:

When we last spoke about the Lyons matter, I think I explained that I do not have enough information about her care and ultimate diagnosis to understand the medical issue here and have it reviewed. I thought you were going to provide additional information/records. This person is a very medically complex patient who receives care from what appears to be a large number of providers, including during the time she was seeing Dr. Vaiman.

CP 488. Williams responded with his availability for a phone call but did not otherwise address Lyons's claim. CP 490. No phone call occurred. CP 477.

Because Williams never provided Cooper with the requested information, she closed her file. CP 21, 492-93.

D. Lyons Files Her Complaint on June 8, 2021.

Lyons filed a complaint on June 8, 2021, claiming that Dr. Vaiman provided negligent medical care to her. CP 1-2. It is undisputed that, if Lyons did not toll the statute of limitations

under RCW 7.70.110, she would have failed to timely sue within RCW 4.16.350's three-year limitations period. *See Pet. at 8*, ¶2.

E. Post-filing Communications Regarding Statute of Limitations.

Cooper was unaware that Lyons had filed suit until Williams contacted her on Monday, August 30, 2021. CP 21, 492-93. After counsel Caitlyn Spencer appeared for Dr. Vaiman, CP 28, Spencer wrote Williams on October 13, 2021, to discuss the statute of limitations, and they spoke by phone. CP 37, 445. Spencer explained that Lyons had filed her lawsuit more than three years after Dr. Vaiman's last encounter with Lyons. CP 37. Williams stated he was certain he sent a written request for mediation to Dr. Vaiman in July or August 2020 so as to toll the statute of limitations for one year. *Id.* Spencer informed Mr. Williams that she had not seen a written request for mediation in the file that Cooper had provided her, and neither Dr. Vaiman nor Cooper was aware of one. *Id.* Spencer asked Williams to forward her a copy, and he agreed to do so. *Id*.

Williams then sent Spencer Cooper's August 12, 2020 template letter, stating: "Caitlyn, here's Beth's August 12th, 2020 letter acknowledging my mediation letter, which Dr. Vaiman had forwarded her." CP 447-48. He did not send a copy of any written request for mediation from July or August 2020.

Id. Spencer responded:

Thanks Dave. I don't see that Beth acknowledged a mediation letter in that correspondence. I spoke with Beth and the attached letter is the only correspondence she has from you in her file. Is there a separate letter that requested mediation?

CP 447. In reply, Williams stated:

That's the only letter I sent and having reviewed this aspect of the file for the first time in a year or more, I now remember <u>exactly</u> what happened. I called Beth Cooper in response to her August 12th letter and among other issues we discussed, I asked if she needed me to formally "demand mediation" to extend the statute. In what I considered a routine gesture of good will, she assured me that she'd take my letter to Dr. Vaiman as that "demand".

Perhaps Beth doesn't remember that conversation, but I have at least one email from her discussing the claim after the SOL would have expired, but for the demand for mediation.

CP 447 (underlining original).

Cooper subsequently explained to Williams that she never told him she would accept his July 27, 2020 letter, which did not include a request for mediation, as a request for mediation. CP 34. Nor would she have told him that she would accept a verbal request for mediation, as she is fully aware that RCW 7.70.110 requires a written request for mediation, and that is what she needed for her file. CP 33-34. Williams never made such a request. CP 34.²

F. Trial Court Grants Dr. Vaiman Summary Judgment and Dismisses Lyons's Lawsuit as Untimely.

Dr. Vaiman moved for summary judgment on the statute of limitations, CP 4-38, which the trial court granted, CP 502-05,

² Dr. Vaiman includes this full factual background only to address Lyons's incomplete "Statement of the Case," *see Pet. at* 7-14. However, Williams's experience with Physicians Insurance and speculating about Cooper's state of mind, *Pet. at* 10-11, are not relevant, and Lyons offers no argument or authority that they are. RCW 7.70.110 does not analyze how the defendant or her insurer interpret written correspondence from a plaintiff to determine whether the plaintiff tolled the statute of limitations. Moreover, Williams's assertions about his conversation with Cooper are vague, and he previously acknowledged he did not recall Cooper's exact words. CP 476.

finding that the "plaintiff has failed to meet the requirements of RCW 7.70.110," RP 38. Lyons appealed. CP 513.

G. Division I Affirms.

Division I affirmed summary judgment dismissal. Highlighting both RCW 7.70.110's clear requirement for a "written request for mediation," and case law that even expressing a desire or willingness to mediate does not satisfy this requirement, it rejected Lyons's argument that Williams's July 27, 2020 correspondence "amounted to" a request for mediation. *Slip Op. at 4-7.* It further found that Lyons offered no authority supporting her contention that courts should consider insurers' customary practices or the recipient's state of mind in evaluating tolling under RCW 7.70.110. *Slip Op. at 7.*

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. This Court Should Decline Review Because Lyons Has Failed to Cite Authority Supporting Her Petition.

RAP 13.4(b) allows this Court to accept review only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court need not consider arguments unsupported by pertinent authority or meaningful analysis. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (arguments not supported by authority); *Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*, 113 Wn.2d 330, 345, 779 P.2d 249 (1989) (arguments not supported by adequate, cogent argument and briefing).

Lyons has not meaningfully engaged with RAP 13.4(b)'s considerations, much less provided pertinent authority or cogent analysis establishing that Division I's decision warrants this Court's review. Her argument consists of one paragraph without

citations to any authorities, *Pet. at 15*. This Court should decline to accept review of her unsupported petition.

B. This Court Should Decline to Accept Review Because No RAP 13.4(b) Consideration Applies.

Division I correctly concluded that Lyons failed to satisfy RCW 7.70.110's requirements to toll the statute of limitations. Division I's decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Courts of Appeals so as to warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), nor, contrary to Lyons's cursory assertion, *Pet. at 15*, does her petition involve an issue of substantial public interest so as to warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. Division I's Decision is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of This Court or Any Published Decision of the Court of Appeals so as to Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Consistent with Division I's decision, no Washington appellate court has ever held that a plaintiff need not actually "request mediation" to trigger RCW 7.70.110's tolling provision, but can instead substitute some other request that the plaintiff or

her counsel believes conveys a desire for mediation, as Lyons contends.

RCW 7.70.110 provides:

The making of a written, good faith request for mediation of a dispute related to damages for injury occurring as a result of health care prior to filing a cause of action under this chapter shall toll the statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.350 for one year.

RCW 7.70.110 is unambiguous in its requirement for a written "request for mediation" to toll the statute of limitations. When "a statute is not ambiguous, only a plain language analysis of a statute is appropriate." *Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 155 (2006).

The only written request that Williams made in his July 27, 2020 letter was for Dr. Vaiman to "place me in touch with your professional liability carrier." CP 443. The letter does not mention alternative dispute resolution generally or mediation specifically. Lyons does not dispute that she did not make a written request for mediation. Instead, she claims, *Pet. at 15*, that no such "magic words" are or should be required.

But, as this Court has recognized, "the right words" indeed matter because, "[t]o paraphrase Mark Twain, the want of the right word makes lightning from lightning bugs." Reyes v. Yakima Health Dist., 191 Wn.2d 79, 83, 419 P.3d 819 (2018). Here, the legislature chose the words "request for mediation" in RCW 7.70.110, and courts "should assume that the legislature means exactly what it says." Davis v. Dep't of Licensing, 137 Wn.2d 957, 964, 977 P.2d 554 (1999) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). If the legislature intended that a request to speak with an insurance carrier could toll the statute of limitations, it would have said so. It did not. RCW 7.70.110 requires plaintiffs to make a written "request for mediation." Lyons did not.

Division I's opinion is thus consistent with all Washington decisions interpreting RCW 7.70.110. *See, e.g., Breuer v. Presta,* 148 Wn. App. 470, 475-76, 200 P.3d 724 (2009), *rev. denied,* 169 Wn.2d 1029 (2010) (pre-suit letters expressing willingness to consider mediation did not amount to a "request"

for mediation" under RCW 7.70.110); see also Cortez-Kloehn v. Morrison, 162 Wn. App. 166, 176, 252 P.3d 909 (2011), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1002 (2011) (offer to attend mediation not a "request for mediation" under RCW 7.70.110).

Williams's assertion that his request to "place me in touch with your professional liability carrier" obviously meant a desire to resolve the claim pre-suit, *Pet. at* 8, which obviously meant "mediation," is unavailing. That is not the test, as *Breuer* and *Cortez-Kloehn* underscore. And Williams did even less than the plaintiffs' lawyers in *Breuer* and *Cortez-Kloehn*, whose letters at least used the word "mediation" and expressed a willingness to mediate. Williams's letter does not mention mediation, settlement, or a demand. No Washington decision supports the notion that a request to "place me in touch with your liability carrier" satisfies RCW 7.70.110's requirement to make a written "request for mediation."

2. Lyons's Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest so as to Warrant Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Ignoring that Division I followed well-settled authorities in affirming dismissal of her untimely lawsuit, Lyons contends that her petition presents "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, i.e. the Right to One's Day in Court," *Pet. at 15*. Beyond its lack of authority or cogent argument, Lyons's contention is substantively insufficient to justify this Court's review.

Lyons does not explain how her failure to comply with RCW 7.70.110's unambiguous requirements means that she was somehow improperly denied her "day in court." Lyons and her counsel had ample opportunity to bring her medical malpractice lawsuit, either within the three-year limitations period or by sending a written request for mediation so as to toll the statute of limitations for one additional year.

By Lyons's reasoning, the dismissal of any lawsuit on statute of limitations grounds would unconstitutionally deny

"one's day in court." But an "individual does not have an absolute and unlimited constitutional right of access to the court system." *Yurtis v. Phipps*, 143 Wn. App. 680, 694, 181 P.3d 849 (2008), *rev. denied*, 164 Wn.2d 1037 (2008) (citations omitted). One such limit is the statute of limitations. Any "Right to One's Day in Court," *Pet. at 15*, does not include a right to ignore the statute of limitations and bring untimely claims. As this Court has long held:

There is nothing inherently unjust about a statute of limitations. Limitations on the time in which one may sue also limit the time in which another may be sued. If one cannot bring an action, by the same token he cannot compel another to defend it. Statutes of limitation ... contemplate that a qualified freedom from unending harassment of judicial process is one of the hallmarks of justice...

. . .

While it has been a long cherished ambition of the common law to provide a legal remedy for every genuine wrong, it is also a traditional view that compelling one to answer stale claims in the courts is in itself a substantial wrong. After all, when an adult person has a justiciable grievance, he usually knows it and the law affords him ample opportunity to assert it in the courts. Consequently, as a matter of basic justice, the courts usually have a cogent

reason to give limitation statutes a literal and rigid reading....

Ruth v. Dight, 75 Wn.2d 660, 664-665, 453 P.2d 631 (1969), superseded by statute, Act of March 23, 1971, LAWS OF 1971, ch. 80, § 1 (codified as RCW 4.16.350), as recognized in Gunnier v. Yakima Heart Ctr., Inc., 134 Wn.2d 854, 861, 953 P.2d 1162 (1998).

It is also well-settled that, like statutes of limitations themselves, exceptions to statutes of limitations such as RCW 7.70.110's tolling provision are strictly construed, even in the face of purported hardship. *See O'Neil v. Estate of Murtha*, 89 Wn. App. 67, 73, 947 P.2d 1252 (1997) ("exceptions to statutes of limitations are strictly construed, and cannot be enlarged from considerations of apparent hardship or inconvenience.") (internal quotations and citations omitted); *see also Young v. Savidge*, 155 Wn. App. 806, 818-19, 230 P.3d 222 (2010) (affirming summary judgment in favor of defendant doctor where plaintiff filed suit just two days after the statute of limitations ran because it requires "strict compliance").

Consistent with precedent, Division I construing RCW 7.70.110 strictly to dismiss Lyons's lawsuit as untimely when she failed to make a written "request for mediation" does not impermissibly bar Lyons's "day in court." Inasmuch as Lyons fails to cite any authority suggesting that statutes of limitation are generally unconstitutional or that Division I's application of RCW 7.70.110 to her lawsuit was improper, she has failed to make the case for this Court to accept review on an issue of substantial public interest.³

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should decline to accept review because no RAP 13.4(b) consideration applies. RCW 7.70.110 unambiguously requires "[t]he making of a written, good faith request for mediation" to toll the statute of limitations for one year. Lyons never made such a request. The trial court properly

arguments to this court").

³ Lyons has not offered any considered argument or authority that Division I's opinion improperly infringes on her "day in court." *See State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992) ("Parties raising constitutional issues must present considered

dismissed her lawsuit as untimely, and Division I correctly affirmed.

I declare that this document contains <u>3,539</u> words.